LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP held at COUNCIL OFFICES LONDON ROAD SAFFRON WALDEN at 12.00 noon on 24 JULY 2014

Present: Councillors S Barker, J Cheetham, E Godwin, J Ketteridge, J

Menell, E Oliver, V Ranger and H Rolfe.

Also present: Councillor C Cant.

Officers in attendance: M Cox (Democratic Services Officer), H Hayden

(Planning Policy Officer), S Nicholas (Senior Planning Policy Officer) and A Taylor (Assistant Director Planning and Building

Control).

LP8 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN

RESOLVED that Councillor Rolfe be appointed as Chairman and Councillor S Barker be appointed as Vice--Chairman of the Working Group.

LP9 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Eden, Mackman, Rose and Watson. Non–committee members Councillors Dean, Redfern and Howell also sent their apologies.

LP10 MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2014 were approved and signed as a correct record, subject to removing Councillor Ranger from the list of attendees, as he had arrived very late to the meeting and had not taken part in the discussion.

LP11 BUSINESS ARISING

i) Minute LP3 – summary of main issues raised by representations

It was confirmed that no date had yet been set for the Local Plan Public Inquiry. Mr Roy Foster had been appointed as the Inspector.

LP12 GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ACCOMMODATION ASSESSMENT AND ALLOCATION PROCESS

The Assistant Director Planning and Building Control presented the Essex wide Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment which had been published on 22 July 2014.

The report had been commissioned by the Essex Planning Officers Association and prepared by Opinion Research Services who were the leading expert in this area of study. It was explained that as with the supply of housing, local authorities had a legal duty to plan for the future provision of gypsy and traveller pitches in their area. They were also required to demonstrate a 5 year land supply.

The study covered the whole of Essex including Southend, Thurrock and Basildon. The study had been prepared in line with national guidance with the objective to provide the Association with robust, defensible and up to date evidence about the accommodation needs during the period 2013 - 2033.

It was explained that in the last 35 years there had been a huge growth in the number of caravans. The target for the number of pitches was previously determined by the Rural Spatial Strategy (RSS) (at a population growth of 3% pa). The expected population and household growth could now be defined at a local level using relevant local evidence. The report concluded that within the travelling community the figure of 1.5% population growth and 2% household growth should be used.

The report explained the methodology and explained that every site in the county had been visited and a questionnaire using nationally agreed questions plus locally relevant questions had gained a 50% response rate.

The study had considered the supply of the pitches, current need and future need. The Assistant Director explained what had been included within these categories. The total requirement for Essex was 830 pitches with a supply of 43 pitches.

Under previous arrangements, the total requirement had been shared across the county. This report had considered each district independently and using the same criteria had applied the mathematical calculation. This had resulted in a wide range of pitch numbers across the county which largely reflected the history of the area and the historical locations of gypsy and traveller sites. The requirement for Uttlesford was for 26 pitches.

The working group was advised that the next stage would be for the appointed consultants to look at the capacity of the existing sites and to assess the suitability of the sites that had come forward under the call for sites. Officers and the working group would then consider the report and suggest options on how to meet the need. The recommendations would then be subject to public consultation in the autumn.

Councillor Barker had attended the meeting at Essex County Council on 21 July when the report had been presented. Some districts had been more concerned with the content of the report but the findings were broadly accepted. Uttlesford was in the lower quartile of the number of pitches to be provided. From experience she suggested that the pitches would be better accommodated on private sites rather than directly by the local authority.

It was noted that 20 of the private pitches with gypsy and traveller consent were provided on two sites in Stansted. Officers had recently become aware

that not all of these were occupied by gypsies and travellers. Action was being taken to review the site and see what action, if any, could be taken in terms of enforcement, which might provide an additional supply of pitches. This matter would be reported back to members together with the report from the consultants.

Councillor Menell was concerned that the recently issued press release had implied that the council was happy to accept the 26 pitches without discussion. The words 'not an unsurmountable challenge' were not helpful to the affected communities.

The Assistant Director replied that 26 pitches was the figure produced from the technical study but it was up to UDC to decide what to do with this number. The consultant's report would give advice but it was the council who would decide on the future action.

Councillor Oliver argued that the figures in the report did not appear to justify the proposed 40% increase over the 20 year plan period and 15% in the next 5 years. The Assistant Director said these figures were realistic and reflected the projected rate of demographic change over time in the gypsy and traveller population.

Councillor Rolfe said this had been an extensive piece of work, applied consistently across the county. There was strong evidence provided by recognised experts using robust evidence with realistic growth options. It would be unwise to challenge the process, as the only option would be to start again which might produce a less favourable result. The important part was where UDC went from here and making sure there was extensive consultation on this issue.

The Assistant Director answered a number of questions from Councillor Ranger. It was confirmed that the call for sites information had not yet been assessed. It was possible that the Local Plan process could be held up if there was no allocation made for gypsy and traveller pitches. The council would need to provide evidence to the Inspector that this matter was progressing. There was not likely to be a call for cross county border duty to cooperate but this could be an issue within the county area.

Councillor Ketteridge said he was content that the council now had a robust evidence base with which to progress this plan.

Councillor Cheetham had some concerns with some of the statements in the report, as not being realistic to the situation on the ground. She was concerned that some of the households could be double counted as some travellers had a different base for the summer and the winter months.

Councillor Cant asked about transit sites. It was explained that there were currently no operational public transit sites in the county and although not counted in the pitch numbers, these would be useful to provide a mechanism for greater enforcement against unauthorised encampments.

The working group agreed with Councillor Menell's suggestion that there should be a further press release following this meeting explaining what the council was going to do going forward.

The report was noted.

LP13 **DATE OF NEXT MEETING**

A further meeting would be arranged for September 2014 when the consultant's report on the site allocation was available.

The meeting ended at 1.30 pm.

Inspector's Note on the Examination Process and Key Dates

Inspector's note on the process and procedures, and notice of a future call for statements

1 The purpose of the examination

The examination takes place under S20 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended. Its purpose is to assist me in assessing whether the local plan has been prepared in accordance with the Duty to Co-operate (DtC) and other legal and procedural requirements, and whether it is 'sound'.

A 'sound' local plan is one which has been:

- 'positively prepared' (that is, it provides a strategy which seeks to meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure requirements, including unmet requirements from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and consistent with achieving sustainable development),
- 'justified' (that is, the plan is the most appropriate strategy when considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence),
- 'effective' (that is, the plan is deliverable over its period and is based on joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities), and
- 'consistent with national policy' (that is, the plan enables the delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework NPPF).

My first duty is to consider whether the DtC has been met. If not, it must fail. If I am satisfied that the Duty has been fulfilled, I must consider whether the plan has any failures of soundness and/or legal compliance. If so, the Council can ask me to make any 'modifications' which would make it sound and/or legally compliant.

2 The Programme Officer

I will be assisted during the examination by the Programme Officer, Louise St John Howe, who is an independent person working under my direction. She liaises with District Council officers to make the arrangements for the hearings, marshals the submitted documentation, and provides the channel of communication between myself, the Council and all participants. Her contact details are:

Address: PO Box 10965, Sudbury, Suffolk CO10 3BF

Email: <u>programmeofficer@uttlesford.gov.uk</u>

Telephone: 07789-486419

Ms St John Howe will be able to advise participants and members of the public about the form and progress of the hearings sessions. Information will also be available on the examination webpage at www.uttlesford.gov.uk/localplanexamination

Any participant with a disability that could affect their contribution to the examination should contact the Programme Officer as soon as possible so that any necessary assistance can be provided.

3 The likely dates of the hearings sessions

The hearings sessions are expected to take place during two weeks commencing 17 November and 1 December, commencing every day at 10.00. There will be no hearing sessions during week beginning 25th November.

Since I do not intend to hold a pre-hearings meeting this note is intended to explain the form of the hearings and outline the process of preparing for them.

4 The form of the hearings sessions

The sessions will take the place of informal round-table discussions following an issue-specific agenda set by me and made available about 2 weeks before any related session. Discussion will focus on particular matters identified by me as likely to be fundamental to my conclusions on the legal requirements and soundness of the plan. They will not be an opportunity for participants to rehearse cases already put in writing.

Anyone may attend the hearings sessions but participation in the discussion is open only to those who made representations to the plan or other persons invited by me to appear because I consider their contribution necessary to a decision about the plan's soundness.

5 Key stages in the process of preparation for the hearings

- 5.1 I have today (21 August 2014) issued a separate note headed 'Uttlesford Local Plan examination: Inspector's initial soundness concerns and questions to the Council'. This sets out a range of legal and soundness-related matters and queries identified thorough my reading the plan (ULP), the representations and the main 'submission documents' provided by the Council. These concerns and questions identify most, if not necessarily all, of the main issues which will need to be covered at the hearings. This is an invitation to the Council to respond to all the issues and questions in the above note by 16 September 2014.
- 5.2 After I have received the Council's response I shall (on about <u>26 September</u>) prepare a call for the Council and those who have made representations to submit written views on any of the matters which will be identified in the call. These are likely to be required to be submitted by <u>17 October 2014</u>. I shall use these statements to assist me in preparing discussion notes that I will circulate to form the daily agenda

for each session. All submitted statements will be placed on the examination webpage.

Key points to note are:

- the starting point for the examination is the assumption that the Council has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan;
- although the representations provide a first basis for considering the legal requirements and soundness of the plan, an Inspector is not required to pursue each and every point made, or to report on them.
- it is not an Inspector's role to improve the plan or to make it 'more sound', but only to address unresolved soundness or legal compliance issues make recommendations about upon any 'modifications' which could overcome them;
- an Inspector must exercise his/her duties under S39 of the Act with the objective of contributing to sustainable development, taking account of the presumption in favour of sustainable development in the NPPF.

6 Modifications to the plan

Under S20(7C) of the Act the Council can ask an Inspector to recommend any modifications necessary to overcome defects of soundness or legal compliance other than the DtC. Any such potential modifications will be posted on the examination webpage as soon as possible and all will be formally advertised after the final hearing session in order not to prejudice third party rights to comment. I would consider any responses made to such modifications within a prescribed timescale before issuing my report. Modifications may need to be covered by a revised process of Sustainability Appraisal.

7 Site Visits

I shall visit sites important to my understanding of the soundness of the plan before, during, or after the hearings sessions. This will normally be done unaccompanied unless it is necessary to enter onto private land in order to appreciate the issues involved

8 Procedure after the hearings

Following the close of the hearings I will prepare a report for the Council setting out my conclusions and any recommended modifications to the plan. The expected arrival date of my report will be announced at the last hearing session. If the Council decides to adopt the plan it will have to include those recommended modifications.

Roy Foster Inspector

21 August 2014

Examination of the Uttlesford Local Plan (ULP)

Inspector's initial soundness concerns and questions to the District Council

Having considered some of the main material relating to the plan, these are my initial soundness concerns and questions. It is likely that they will cover the majority of matters that need to be discussed at the hearings sessions. The points below are not necessarily placed in order of importance but generally follow the order of the plan's contents. I ask the Council to respond to the contents of this note by 17 September.

I have today also issued a procedure note which, among other things, describes the key stages and dates in the preparation for the hearings, including the dates when participants will be invited to submit further statements, if they so wish, on the matters and issues I identify when the Council has responded to this note.

1 Duty to Co-operate (DtC)

There is no scope to remedy any failure to comply with the DtC imposed by S33A of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The Council has recently prepared a DtC compliance statement (L103), dated July 2014. I understand this to be the Council's full account of the way in which the duty has been addressed.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) indicates (para 178) that joint working on strategic matters of common interest should be 'diligently undertaken for the mutual benefit of neighbouring authorities'. Para 156 identifies the 'homes and jobs needed in the area' as one among of a set of 'strategic priorities',

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) para 9-010 indicates that evidence will be sought on the outcomes of co-operation rather than just whether local planning authorities have approached others. Para 9-011 gives examples of the kinds of action that may constitute effect cooperation under the DtC, while para 9-015 refers to decisions about kinds of issues over which co-operation is required.

L103 records meetings with all the Council's neighbouring LPAs (plus Essex and Herts County Councils) and summarises their outcomes. It also identifies a number of jointly prepared/commissioned evidence studies. In some instances formal or draft DtC memoranda of understanding/terms of reference have been agreed, establishing frameworks for on-going co-operation on a wide range of common issues, including Stansted Airport and M11 capacity issues. The most active co-operation seems to have been with East Herts, Epping Forest, Harlow and Essex and Herts County Councils as well as with various groups associated with Stansted Airport and the London - Stansted - Cambridge - Consortium. In the cases of South Cambs, Braintree, Maldon, North Herts and Chelmsford, DtC exchanges have identified fewer material cross-border issues. DtC meetings have also been held between the London

Assembly and the Essex Planning Officers Association 'to maintain dialogue and... awareness across London and Essex'.

5 of Uttlesford's six immediate neighbours have expressly made representations that Uttlesford has satisfied the DtC. No specific response has been made by Harlow (?).

I understand this to be the gist of the Council's position on the DtC. I do not ask for significant further information on the DtC, although some matters which are allied to it are better taken up under the soundness test of 'positive preparation'. These issues are raised in other parts of this note.

2 The NPPF 'justification' test and the Sustainability Appraisals of the Local Plan

NPPF para 182 advises that the plan should be the 'most appropriate strategy, when considered against the reasonable alternatives', based on proportionate evidence.

An important part of the evidence to demonstrate that this test has been met consists of critical parts of the Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisals undertaken at each stage of the plan preparation process. Leading Court judgements such as (1) Save Historic Newmarket Ltd & others v Forest Heath DC and others (2011) and (2) Heard v Broadland DC & others (2012) point to the need for the SA to provide readers with a clear audit trail of the reasons for the choice of the submitted strategy as opposed to other reasonable alternatives. This may be particularly important where (as in this case) the distribution, locations and development quantums of the proposed major development options have changed over time since the plan first began to be conceived.

The Planning Advisory Service (PAS) website page (Legal Challenges Update: September 2012) draws upon the Heard judgement to provide 3 principal learning points on the 'Adequacy of Sustainability Appraisal' and the reasons why the options selected in a plan are preferred to other reasonable alternatives previously canvassed.

I therefore ask the Council to provide the examination with (a) a guide to those particular sections of the SA which provide the necessary audit trail and (b) a commentary upon the legal adequacy of the process.

3 The relevant Housing Market Area

NPPF para 47 says that local planning authorities should use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plans 'meet the full objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing market area' as far as is consistent ..(etc). The question therefore arises 'what is the housing market area (HMA) assessed for the purposes of the ULP?

Para 4.5 of ULP appears to draw upon the London Commuter Belt East/M11 sub-regional SHMA 2008-2010 to state that the District lies within 3 sub-market housing areas, ie mainly within the Harlow/M11 sub-market with small areas in the Cambridge and Chelmsford sub-markets. The Council's recent proposed minor modification (PMM/11/10) states that Uttlesford is 'substantially within' the Harlow/M11 sub-market and 'on the border of'/'looking towards' the other two. This does not necessarily make the position clearer and may or may not be consistent with what is said about housing markets in the DtC statement (L103). The proposed change could be taken to mean that parts of Uttlesford are 'on the outside looking in' upon the Cambridge and Chelmsford sub-areas, or that they are still partly within them (as stated in L103). The latter seems to be inconsistent with view of the Cambridgeshire authorities who have jointly prepared a Strategic Housing Market Assessment for the whole of that county as a self-contained entity, not including any part of Uttlesford.

Subsequent to the 2008-10 SHMA Uttlesford seems to have been treated as self-contained for housing need assessment purposes. The later reports by Edge Analytics generate independent projections for all the Districts covered by them, as well as some macro-scenarios for various 'macro-areas' including the 'Stansted/M11 corridor', the 'Harlow Wider Area', 'Heart of Essex' and 'West Essex'. What was the purpose of identifying these macro-areas? How are their boundaries defined? Are they being treated as an input to local plan work? If so, in what way?

Some representations query whether it is sound to consider Uttlesford effectively as a self-contained HMA. They point to its participation (and fairly central location) within the London – Stansted – Cambridge Consortium, through which the various partners aim to drive economic growth in the area centred on the M11 corridor. They also refer to the NPPF soundness test of 'positive preparation', which includes seeking to meet the unmet needs of neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so. They suggest that circumstances here require a more widely-based collaborative approach to factors such as the needs of North London, Harlow, the committed capacity for growth of Stansted and other needs and opportunities along the corridor.

I ask the Council to respond fully to all the above issues and questions. Do housing market and travel to work factors make it appropriate to treat Uttlesford as a single Housing Market Area and, if it is, why does the plan appear to suggest otherwise? Are the wider housing needs of the macro-areas relevant to the planning of Uttlesford and its neighbours, and if so how are they reflected in the plan?

4 Objectively-assessed housing needs

The basis for the assessed housing need underlying the plan (523pa) is set out in the 'Objectively Assessed Housing Need Technical Assessment' dated October 2013 (H105). H105 summarises the outcomes of successive stages of assessment through

the Greater Essex Demographic Forecasts (GEDF) contained in documents H101-H103).

An update prepared in April 2014 (H106) draws upon the subsequent Phase 5 of the GEDF forecasts (H104). This work considered later data from the 2011 Census and the revised mid-year population estimates for 2002-10, resulting in what could be quite substantial increased projections for Uttlesford as set out below.

Using the normal 5-year timeframe for migration (which is mainly internal migration) these are as follows:

at recession-based 2011-based household formation rates: 715-687 pa at pre-recession based 2008-based household formation rates: 774-745 pa

Using a 10-year timeframe for the migration elements these are:

at recession-based 2011-based household formation rates: 577-537 pa at pre-recession based 2008-based household formation rates: 631-589 pa

The Council's update statement (H106), having noted these figures, goes on to comment:

'These alternative trend projections are higher than the official projections. This is because the SNPP-2010 is based on evidence that has since been superseded by later evidence from the 2011 Census and revised mid-year estimates.

The Council has prepared its Plan on the most robust official projections available at the time. The Council consider that it should continue with a plan based on SNPP 2010-based projections as the latest official and robust projections. The SNPP 2012-based projections are due to be released in Spring 2014, and the next phase of the Greater Essex Demographic Forecasts will evaluate these new ONS projections.'

The scale of the differences between the ULP figure of 523pa and some of the above alternatives suggests the need for some further testing of the plan's housing provision in order to ensure that it is taken forward on the basis of up-to-date, clearly founded sound evidence. Has consideration been given to the implications of the SNPP 2012-based projections, released in May 2014? Have the GEDF consultants been asked to evaluate these latest ONS projections and their implications for household growth? H104 (para 1.7) suggests that Phase 6 of the GEDF work will be completed by July 2014. What stage has this work reached and what are its expected outputs?

5 5-yr land supply: the Housing Trajectory and 5-yr land supply (H108)

Concerning table 2 of H108, it appears that the 5 year requirement would be 523 x 5 (2615) plus 118 to make good the shortfall occurring during the first 3 years of the plan (bringing the total to 2733) plus a 5% buffer brought forward from future years (5% of 2733=137), making a total of 2870.

Turning to the supply, NPPG states at para 008 ref ID12-008 that a Council's policies will not be considered up-to-date if the existence of a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites cannot be demonstrated. It therefore follows that a plan would be unlikely to be sound (and therefore appropriate to proceed to adoption) in such circumstances. Table 1 of H108 indicates that some 3592 dwellings are considered deliverable in NPPF terms within the 5 year period. On the face of it this is a healthy position although it is reliant upon the great majority of sites identified in Appendix 1 with extant full or outline permission (and some with resolutions to grant permission subject to an agreement) delivering fully within the 5 year period. Of course the table identifies exceptions in the case of the larger sites where delivery will take place over a long term. The realism or otherwise of these delivery rates, including those assumed for the local plan allocations without permission, will need to tested during the examination.

More generally on the land supply, it is not at all easy to see from the text of the plan (but I have learned from other sources in the background documents) that events have moved on so far that the great majority of the plan's 'allocations' merely record sites with planning permission or a resolution to grant permission, subject to an agreement. To aid the efficiency of the examination and permit attention to be focused on sites that are not already committed, it would be helpful to receive a list of the allocation sites which fall into that category.

6 The spatial strategy – settlement classifications (paras 7.1-7.8)

I note that the planning status of some settlements has changed since the Local Plan 2005 eg Stansted Mountfitchet was an 'urban area' and is now a 'key village', while Hatfield Heath was an 'other village' and is now a 'key village'. The other rural settlements have been divided type A and B villages. Is there an evidence document outlining the basis for these classifications?

7 General Development Principles (part 8)

7.1 Policy DES1

A Ministerial Statement (and its attached note) dated 13 March 2014 sets out the ways in which the themes of its Review of Housing Standards are to be taken forward. It is intended that the many overlapping, conflicting and confusing current national and local standards will be rationalised and simplified by consolidating any necessary technical standards on access, security, water, energy and space into the Building Regulations and/or a new national standard. In view of this the Council may wish to re-consider some aspects of this policy [and policies E8 and E10] where they appear to conflict with this direction of travel.

In addition, what is meant by the 'latest Lifetime Neighbourhood' standards? The glossary to the NPPF reminds us that while SPD can be a material consideration in a planning decision, it is not 'part of' the development plan. It is therefore inappropriate (see Regs 5(1)(iv) and 6 of the 2012 Regulations) for development plan policies to require compliance with the terms of non-statutory SPDs or any other documents which are not part of the plan itself. However, it may be acceptable for the explanatory parts of ULP to identify SPDs which have been prepared in accordance with the procedures for such documents and note that they may be taken into account as 'material considerations' in determining any relevant applications.

The above comment also applies to 'Lifetime Homes' standards, and 'Wheelchair Accessible Home' standards.

Turning to the introduction to the policy, rep 325 appears to me to identify a lack of consistency with the NPPF. Of course, the historic environment of Uttlesford is very important. However, by concentrating so much on that the policy fails to take the opportunity to seek appropriate responses to all environments, including the less historic ones and to encourage innovation.

8 Employment and retail strategies (parts 9 and 10)

I have no specific questions of the Council at this stage, although there may be some issues to explore in the call for responses to be issued at the end of September

9 Housing Strategy (part 11)

- 9.1 Policy SP7 This policy would be effective (and far simpler to understand and link to SP6) if numbers are inserted into bullet points 2 and 3 using figures from the 2014-based housing statement (H108) to show how the various elements of the overall provision add up to 10,460. The figures in paras 11.9 and 11.10 and the following table 5 could also be usefully edited to show the current position.
- <u>9.2</u> <u>Policy H01</u> Is the message conveyed by paragraph 11.20 (making the best use of land subject to context) consistent with the wording of the policy? The paragraph does not support or explain these figures.
- <u>9.3 Policy H02</u> What is the current mix requirement? Should this not be referred to in paragraph 11.21? Otherwise constant reference is required to another document outside the plan.
- <u>9.4 Policy H04</u> Is the requirement for an energy assessment in para 11.23 (not included in the policy) consistent with the issue raised under policy DES1 concerning the national Housing Review?

- 9.5 Policy H06 Is this policy unduly restrictive? What is it trying to achieve? Does paragraph 11.25 adequately explain this?
- 9.6 Other housing issue NPPF para 50 indicates that plans should aim to provide for a variety of housing needs including those wishing to build their own homes. ULP does not appear to deal with this issue.

10 Environmental Protection (part 12)

- <u>10.1</u> Policy EN1 The 2nd paragraph can be confusing. It may be clearer if cast in the negative... 'Planning permission will <u>not</u> be grantedunless.....' And should this paragraph refer to not causing material <u>harm</u> rather than disturbance or nuisance? Harm caused by pollutants can go wider than disturbance or nuisance.
- <u>10.2 Policy EN8</u> and accompanying paragraphs See the point raised under policy DES1 above in relation to the Ministerial Statement.
- <u>10.3 Policy EN10</u> and accompanying paragraphs See the point raised under policy DES1 above in relation to the Ministerial Statement.

11 Development in the Countryside (part 13)

- 11.1 Policy SP9 Is the 'Countryside Protection Zone' an unnecessary policy tier overlaid upon the plan's other policies protecting the countryside? What further objective does it serve which is not otherwise obtainable?
- <u>11.2 Policy C2</u> Is this policy compliant with national policy and the recent changes to the General Permitted Development Order?

12 The Historic Environment (part 14)

- 12.1 Policy SP10 (Final para) See the comment under DES1 above concerning SPD.
- <u>12.2 Policy HE1</u> See the above comment re SPD. I note that the Conservation Area Appraisals are already properly referred to in para 14.7
- <u>12.3 Policy HE3</u> Does the policy adequately refer to sites of less than national archaeological importance? Also, should 'in situ' be inserted after 'preservation' in the 1st line of paragraph 3?

13 The Natural Environment (part 15)

- 13.1 Policies SP11 & NE1 See the comment under DES1 above concerning SPD, here in relation to the Essex Biodiversity Action Plan.
- 13.2 Policies NE1 & NE2 Is the plan adequately reflective of NPPF para 109 re seeking net gains in biodiversity and promoting the establishing of coherent and resilient ecological networks of green infrastructure? Is it adequately reflective of the importance of Hatfield Forest?

14 Assess strategy (part 16)

Policy SP12 (a) Transport modelling

Concerning the highway impact of the draft plan, <u>Essex CC</u> as Transport Authority concludes (I104) that its effects on Saffron Walden and Great Dunmow are able to be managed with some appropriate mitigation. Formal assessments of the cumulative impacts of Elsenham had not been undertaken (in March 2014). In the CC's view more detailed study is required, but there are limited options to reduce impact and these hinge on demand management, reducing the need to travel and high quality alternative means of travel.

As for the strategic network, Essex CC states that mitigation works at a cost of £5m would free up capacity for all traffic at J8 of the M11 but funding is not yet secured. The Highways Agency's representation (1817) does not appear to consider that sufficient investigation has been undertaken of the cumulative impact upon the strategic network of development in Uttlesford, East Herts, Harlow, and Epping Forest and is concerned that there is a risk that sites have been identified before it is clear that measures to manage impacts are deliverable.

The DtC statement (L103) para 5.15 indicates that in April 2014 Essex and Herts CCs and the Highways Agency signed off a predictive regional model for assessing traffic flows on strategic and local road networks using housing and employment growth data up to 2036. The County Councils have also agreed its use for strategic purposes with the Highways Agency.

The above points beg the question: is the present state of evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the Uttlesford allocations, taken together with those in nearby Districts, will be sound in the sense of being compatible with the capacity of the road network when the above model is run? When will outputs from the agreed model be available?

15 Infrastructure (part 17)

<u>Policy INF1</u> Is INF1 adequately consistent with NPPF para 74? Is it (and the table) also consistent with all the tests in the bullet points of NPPF para 204? Is the plan

effective in explaining how the deficiencies identified in paras 17.3 and 17.4 will be addressed?

<u>Policies INF2 & INF3</u> These two almost identical policies are confined to proposed development beyond development limits and therefore appear to be limbs of the countryside policies rather than providing policy on 'Infrastructure' as such. Why is there a separate need for them?

<u>Policy INF4</u> Does this place unrealistic burdens on developers to carry out a function which can only be fulfilled by the Care Commissioning Group? (rep 1129 refers). Is it therefore ineffective? The reference to health services provision at para 10.19 also applies.

16 Site allocations (p95-204)

In the last paragraph of point 5 above I seek further information about which of these sites is already committed and which not. Consequently I do not now pose specific questions about the justification for (and effectiveness of) the uncommitted sites except Elsenham (see 17 below). Towards the end of September I shall identify more specific issues about the uncommitted sites which participants, including the Council, will be invited to respond to.

17 Elsenham

At the point when the Council decided that the plan needed to include a new settlement as part of the most appropriate strategy for meeting its assessed housing needs, which candidate locations/sites were identified and considered for that purpose and how was Elsenham judged to be the most justified and effective as compared with reasonable alternatives? Those making representations to the plan suggest a number of other potential/locations sites for new settlements. Which of these were/were not considered during the Council's process?

Roy Foster Inspector

21 August 2014